A. INTRODUCTION 

Adem Gerzic was denied the right to confront the witnesses 

against him when the State failed to produce the witness who accused 

him of making felony threats. Although Christine Clark “politely 

declined” to appear at trial, the court admitted testimonial portions of 

her statements to a 911 operator. Because any emergency had passed 

and these statements were the result of questioning, Mr. Gerzic was 

entitled to confront Ms. Clark. 

The only other evidence offered against Mr. Gerzic were text 

messages Ms. Clark claimed were sent to her by Mr. Gerzic. The court 

allowed the State to introduce Ms. Clark’s hearsay statement that the 

text messages had been sent by Mr. Gerzic and admitted the substance 

of the text messages without sufficient authentication.  

Mr. Gerzic’s constitutional right to confrontation and his right to 

a fair trial were violated when the only evidence offered against him 

was out of court statements that were insufficiently corroborated and 

never subject to cross examination. He is entitled to a new trial.  
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B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The court denied Mr. Gerzic’s constitutional right to 

confrontation when it admitted testimonial out of court statements 

made by a witness who did not appear in court. 

2. The court erred in admitting text messages without proper 

authentication. 

3. The court denied Mr. Gerzic’s right to confrontation when it 

admitted testimonial evidence found in text messages purportedly sent 

by Mr. Gerzic without offering him an opportunity to cross examine the 

witness offering the statement against him. 

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. A person who is accused of a crime has the right to confront 

witnesses who testify against him. This right to confrontation applies to 

testimonial out of court statements. Is the right to confrontation violated 

by the admission of statements to a 911 operator made when an 

emergency no longer exists and the declarant does not testify? 

2. Reversal is required when the State fails to sufficiently 

authenticate a text message and it is reasonably probable that its 

admission materially affects the outcome of a hearing. Did the court 

commit reversible error when it admitted text messages which were 
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unverified by either the sender or receiver of the messages and not 

otherwise sufficiently corroborated where there was no forensic 

evidence establishing they were sent by Mr. Gerzic? 

3. The right to confrontation requires an opportunity to cross 

examine a witness when testimonial evidence is offered against a 

defendant. Where the State introduced evidence purportedly 

authenticating Mr. Gerzic’s having sent text messages to Ms. Clark 

without providing Mr. Gerzic with the opportunity to cross examine the 

source of this testimonial evidence which was used to establish 

authentication, was Mr. Gerzic’s right to confrontation denied? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Adem Gerzic was charged with felony harassment after 

Christine Clark claimed he had threatened to kill her if she broke up 

with him. CP 3.1 Ms. Clark made these statements in a 911 call, and she 

also showed the police pictures and text messages on her phone that she 

claimed came from Mr. Gerzic. Id. Mr. Gerzic denied making any 

threats to Ms. Clark. Id. 

                                                           
1 For this brief, references to the record will be referred to by the date on the 

cover sheet of each volume and then the page number. E.g., 2/10/15 RP 1. Clerk’s papers 

will be referred to as “CP” and then the designated page number. E.g., CP 1. Exhibits 

which have been designated as part of the clerk’s papers will be referred to by exhibit 

number and then the page within the exhibit. E.g., Ex. 8 at 1. 
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Ms. Clark was represented by Kevin Trombold, who 

communicated on her behalf with the prosecuting attorney. 2/10/15 RP 

9. Before trial, Ms. Clark informed the State she had no interest in 

testifying. Id. at 10. Although Mr. Trombold did not challenge the 

subpoena, he told the State that “Ms. Clark tells me that she would like 

to politely decline coming at all.” 2/11/15 RP 3. Although a material 

witness order was obtained by the State, Ms. Clark never appeared for 

trial. 2/11/15 RP 60. 

The State sought to introduce a copy of Ms. Clark’s 911 call as 

an excited utterance. 2/10/14 RP 29. Mr. Gerzic objected, pointing out 

that “shortly after the inception of the 911 call, the statements by Ms. 

Clark become testimony in nature, that they are given in response to 

direct, and at some points leading, inquiry on the part of the 911 

caller.” Id. at 30. The court ruled some of the statements were an 

excited utterance and that the call then became a “Q and A 

testimonial.” Id. at 31. The court redacted the sections of the 911 tape it 

determined were testimonial. See, Id., at 36 (pg. 3, line 11 through p. 4, 

line 1), 40 (pg. 5, line 2 through pg. six, line 1), 42-43 (pg. 7, line 12 

through the end of the call); see also, Ex. 8. 
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The State also sought to introduce text messages that a police 

officer said Ms. Clark gave him and asserted were sent to her by Mr. 

Gerzic. Mr. Gerzic asked that the texts be excluded under ER 404(b) 

and because they were remote in time, having been sent three months 

earlier. 2/10/14 RP 54, 56. Mr. Gerzic also moved to exclude the 

messages when no witness appeared who could authenticate that they 

were sent by him. 2/11/14 RP 36. The court denied Mr. Gerzic’s 

requests and admitted the text messages into evidence. See Ex. 4. 

The only witnesses to testify at trial were two police officers. 

2/11/15 RP 20, 64. Neither officer was a witness to any interaction 

between Mr. Gerzic and Ms. Clark. An officer testified Ms. Clark told 

her Mr. Gerzic sent her the text messages. 2/11/15 RP 34. The only 

evidence introduced at trial to prove Mr. Gerzic had committed felony 

harassment was the 911 call and the text messages. 

Mr. Gerzic was found guilty of felony harassment. 2/12/15 RP 

99. He was sentenced under a first time offender waiver to eight days 

confinement and one year of probation. 2/20/15 RP 11. He also was 

ordered to complete and comply with a mental health evaluation. Id.   
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E. ARGUMENT 

1. Mr. Gerzic’s right to confrontation was denied when the 

court allowed a 911 call to be introduced as evidence 

when the caller was not present. 

 

a. An accused person must be provided with the 

opportunity to confront testimonial statements made 

outside of court. 

 

The Washington Constitution provides that “in criminal 

prosecutions, the accused shall have the right … to meet the witnesses 

against him face to face.” Const. art. I § 22. The Federal Constitution 

provides that “In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the 

right ... to be confronted with the witnesses against him....” U.S. Const. 

amend. VI. Under Washington’s constitution, this “means that the 

examination of such a witness shall be in open court, in the presence of 

the accused, with the right of the accused to cross-examine such 

witness as to the facts testified by him.” State v. Stentz, 30 Wn. 134, 

142, 70 P. 241 (1902), abrogated on other grounds by State v. Fire, 145 

Wn.2d 152, 34 P.3d 1218 (2001). The United States Supreme Court has 

likewise established objective criteria for determine whether an out of 

court statement violates the confrontation clause. Davis v. Washington, 

547 U.S. 813, 827, 126 S.Ct. 2266, 165 L.Ed.2d 224 (2006). 



7 
 

Testimonial statements made out of court are hearsay and thus 

inadmissible unless the State is able to demonstrate both unavailability 

of the witness and a prior opportunity for cross-examination. Crawford 

v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 68, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 

(2004). A statement is testimonial “when the circumstances objectively 

indicate that there is no ... ongoing emergency, and that the primary 

purpose of the interrogation is to establish or prove past events 

potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution.” Davis, 547 U.S. at 

822. Statements are not testimonial “when made in the course of police 

interrogation under circumstances objectively indicating that the 

primary purpose of the interrogation is to enable police assistance to 

meet an ongoing emergency.” Id. 

To determine whether an out of court statement satisfies the 

confrontation clause, the circumstances must objectively show (1) that 

there is or is not an ongoing emergency and (2) that the primary 

purpose of the interrogation is or is not to establish past events relevant 

to later criminal prosecution. Davis, 547 U.S. at 822. Statements made 

“under interrogation are an obvious substitute for live testimony 

because they do precisely what a witness does on direct examination; 

they are inherently testimonial.” Id., at 830.  
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Washington has adopted a four part test to determine whether 

the confrontation clause is satisfied looking to (1) whether the speaker 

is speaking of events as they are actually occurring or instead 

describing past events; (2) whether a reasonable listener would 

recognize that the speaker is facing an ongoing emergency; (3) whether 

the questions and answers show that the statements were necessary to 

resolve the present emergency or instead to learn what had happened in 

the past; and (4) the level of formality of the interrogation. State v. 

Pugh, 167 Wn.2d 825, 832, 225 P.3d 892, 896 (2009) (citing Davis, 

547 U.S. at 827). 

b. Ms. Clark’s statements to the 911 operator were 

testimonial in nature. 

 

i. Ms. Clark was not speaking of events as they 

were actually occurring and was instead 

describing past events. 

No crimes were being committed when Ms. Clark began 

speaking with the 911 operator. Instead, Ms. Clark was calling about 

threats she alleged Mr. Gerzic had already made. She told the 911 

operator, that “he threatened to come and just put a bullet in my head if 

I don’t want to continue our relationship.” Ex. 8 at 2. While she told the 

911 operator she was scared, she also made it clear Mr. Gerzic “went 

back to his car. I think he heard me calling you. So probably he's gonna 
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leave.” Ex. 8 at 3. In fact, Mr. Gerzic was arrested “quite a ways” from 

Ms. Clark’s residence. 2/11/15 RP 68. He had a calm and quiet 

demeanor. Id. at 36. From the moment Ms. Clark notified the 911 

operator Mr. Gerzic was leaving for his car, there was no suggestion 

that Ms. Clark was in any type of an emergency. Ex. 8 at 3. Once Ms. 

Clark indicated Mr. Gerzic was returning to his car, her statements to 

the police involved only past conduct. Id. at 3-4. This is especially true 

when she related threats made by Mr. Gerzic to her. Id. 

That the 911 operator understood the emergency was over is 

clear from the questions being posed. Rather than seeking information 

regarding possible danger to Ms. Clark, the 911 operator asked 

questions regarding Mr. Gerzic’s pedigree after Ms. Clark relayed that 

she was not in danger. Ex. 8 at 3. The 911 operator asked Ms. Clark to 

provide Mr. Gerzic’s full name and date of birth. Id. at 3-4.  

After Ms. Clark let the 911 operator know she was no longer in 

danger, the 911 operator turned to concerns Ms. Clark had about future 

conduct, rather than her present situation. Ex. 8 at 4. The operator then 

asked Ms. Clark whether Mr. Gerzic could comply with orders, 

presumably to help a court officer determine bail and what orders to 

impose. Id. at 5.  



10 
 

When an officer or 911 operator is attempting to determine what 

happened in the past rather what was happening at the time, the out of 

court statements of the witness should be excluded. Davis, 547 U.S. at 

830. Because the 911 operator shifted from determining whether there 

was an emergency to what crime might have occurred on page 3, line 

11 of the 911 transcript, the remainder of the transcript was testimonial 

and should have been excluded. Ex. 8 at 3. 

ii. A reasonable listener would not recognize that 

the speaker is facing an ongoing emergency. 

At the beginning of the 911 call, Ms. Clark states, “I’m gonna 

call the cops okay. If you don’t leave,” which indicates any emergency 

which might be ongoing is about to end. Ex. 8 at 1. She confirms the 

emergency has ended when she tells the 911 officer she believes Mr. 

Gerzic left for his car. Ex. 8 at 3. At no time in the call after this point 

did Ms. Clark indicate there was an immediate threat to her or that she 

was in any current danger. Instead she only referred to past actions or 

concerns she had about what Mr. Gerzic had done or might do in the 

future. She even gets frustrated that the 911 officer is interrogating her 

about Mr. Gerzic’s identifying information, rather than acting to have 

him arrested. Ex. 8 at 3. Under the circumstances of this call, a 

reasonable listener would recognize Ms. Clark was not in any danger 
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after she informed the 911 operator Mr. Gerzic had returned to his car. 

Id. 

iii. The questions and answers do not show that 

the statements were necessary to resolve a 

present emergency. 

Because there was no emergency the police were responding to, 

the statements made by Ms. Clark were not necessary to resolve one. 

Instead, the questions were designed to discover more about what had 

happened in the past. Once the 911 operator determined Ms. Clark was 

not in an emergency, the questions became an interrogation to gather 

information in order to arrest and prosecute Mr. Gerzic. The operator 

asked for Mr. Gerzic’s full name, including his middle initial. Ex. 8 at 

3. The operator then asked for his date of birth. Id. From this point on, 

the 911 operator began to question Ms. Clark regarding the past 

incident rather than try to resolve an emergency. Id. Throughout the 

remainder of the call, Ms. Clark remained calm and answered all of the 

911 operator’s questions. 

iv. The level of formality of the interrogation. 

After the 911 operator had determined there was no emergency, 

the questions posed to Ms. Clark were formal and designed as an 

examination. The operator sought pedigree information and then facts 
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regarding the past and future behavior of Mr. Gerzic. The operator 

asked about prior incidents and contact with law enforcement. When 

Ms. Clark became frustrated by the questions, the 911 operator 

remained on script, rather than immediately replying to Ms. Clark’s 

frustrations. See, e.g., Ex. 8 at 3-4.  

c. The denial of Mr. Gerzic’s right to confront the 

testimonial evidence provided through the 911 call 

entitles him to a new trial. 

Mr. Gerzic’s constitutional right to confrontation was violated 

when the court allowed the jury to hear statements made by an out of 

court declarant which were testimonial in nature without giving Mr. 

Gerzic an opportunity to confront the speaker. The emergency had 

concluded when Ms. Clark informed the operator Mr. Gerzic had left 

for his car and the court should have excluded all of the statements 

made by Ms. Clark after this point. Instead, the court attempted to parse 

the call further, allowing the jury to hear Ms. Clark’s testimonial 

statements, even though Mr. Gerzic had no opportunity to cross 

examine her.  

No evidence was offered against Mr. Gerzic which did not 

violate his right to confrontation. The only testimony the jury heard 

which could establish felony harassment came from the out of court 
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statements of Ms. Clark, either through the 911 operator or through th 

officer who authenticated text messages she claimed to have received 

from Mr. Gerzic. The State cannot establish that the court’s error in 

violating Mr. Gerzic’s constitutional rights was harmless beyond a 

reasonable doubt. Because Mr. Gerzic’s constitutional right to 

confrontation was violated, he is entitled to a new trial.  

2. The court introduced unauthenticated text 

messages that violated Mr. Gerzic’s right to 

confrontation 

 

a. The ease in which electronic messaging may 

be created through falsehood or fraud 

requires court to carefully review authorship 

prior to admitting an electronic message. 

“Authentication is a threshold requirement designed to assure 

that evidence is what it purports to be.” State v. Payne, 117 Wn. App. 

99, 106, 69 P.3d 889 (2003). In order to satisfy the requirements for 

authentication under ER 901, the State must introduce sufficient proof 

to permit a reasonable factfinder to find in favor of authenticity or 

identification. Id. Thus, the evidence must support a finding that the 

evidence in question is what the proponent claims it to be. Id. A court’s 

admission of evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. 

Magers, 164 Wn.2d 174, 181, 189 P.3d 126 (2008). 
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While ER 901 does not include text messages in its illustrative 

list, it does examine email messages. ER 901(b) (10). With regard to 

email messages, it requires: 

Testimony by a person with knowledge that (i) the e-mail 

purports to be authored or created by the particular 

sender or the sender’s agent; (ii) the e-mail purports to be 

sent from an e-mail address associated with the particular 

sender or the sender’s agent; and (iii) the appearance, 

contents, substance, internal patterns, or other distinctive 

characteristics of the e-mail, taken in conjunction with 

the circumstances, are sufficient to support a finding that 

the e-mail in question is what the proponent claims.   

ER 901(b) (10). 

Because text messages are a relatively new form of 

communication, few courts have examined how testimony offered 

through a text message should be authenticated. See, e.g. In re 

Detention of H.N. --- P.3d ---, No. 72003-1-I, 2015 WL 4081790 

(Wash. Ct. App. July 6, 2015). However, text messages are essentially 

documents and should be subject to the same requirements for 

authenticity as non-electronic documents. Documents may be 

authenticated by direct proof, such as the testimony of a witness who 

saw the author sign the document, acknowledgment of execution by the 

signer, admission of authenticity by an adverse party, or proof that the 

document or its signature is in the purported author's handwriting. See 
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Com. v. Koch, 2011 PA Super 201, 39 A.3d 996, 1004 (2011) (citing 

McCormick on Evidence, §§ 219–221 (E. Cleary 2d Ed.1972)). 

The difficulty that frequently arises in e-mail and text message 

cases is establishing authorship. Koch, 39 A.3d at 1004. More than one 

person may use an address or phone number, and accounts can be 

accessed without permission. Id. The majority of courts across the 

country which have considered this question have determined the mere 

fact that an e-mail bears a particular address is inadequate to 

authenticate the identity of the author; typically, courts demand 

additional evidence. Id. This same standard should be applied to text 

messages. 

Courts have imposed a heavier burden of authentication on 

messaging and social network postings because of the increased 

dangers of falsehood and fraud. Judge Alan Pendleton, Admissibility of 

Electronic Evidence A New Evidentiary Frontier, Bench & B. Minn., 

October 2013, at 14, 16. In fact, multiple applications exist which allow 

for text messages to be sent from someone other than the purported 

user.2 Courts have thus been wary of allowing social network messages 

                                                           
2 Among other applications which may be downloaded to a cell phone to create 

false text messages, a search of the internet reveals applications like 

www.spoofmytext.com, www.sendanonymoussms.com, www.pranktexts.com, and 

http://www.spoofmytext.com/
http://www.sendanonymoussms.com/
http://www.pranktexts.com/
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to be entered into evidence, again stating their concerns with the 

website's security and the potential for access by hackers. See State v. 

Eleck, 130 Conn. App. 632, 638-39, 23 A.3d 818, 822 (2011) aff'd on 

other grounds, 314 Conn. 123, 100 A.3d 817 (2014) (The need for 

authentication arises because an electronic communication, such as a 

Facebook message, an e-mail or a cell phone text message, could be 

generated by someone other than the named sender). Proving only that 

a message came from a particular account, without further 

authenticating evidence, is inadequate proof of authorship. See, e.g., 

Commonwealth v. Williams, 456 Mass. 857, 869, 926 N.E.2d 1162 

(2010) (admission of message was error where proponent advanced no 

circumstantial evidence as to security of page or purported author's 

exclusive access). 

Maryland has suggested that authentication may be perfected 

when the proponent of a document is able to search the device owned 

by the purported author for history and stored documents or by seeking 

authenticating information from the commercial host of the e-mail, cell 

phone messaging or social networking account. Griffin v. State, 419

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