FILED  
November 16, 2015  
Court of Appeals  
Division I  
State of Washington

NO. 73242-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION I

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ADEM GERZIC,

Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE PALMER ROBINSON

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG  
King County Prosecuting Attorney

DONALD J. PORTER  
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney  
W554 King County Courthouse  
516 3rd Avenue  
Seattle, Washington 98104  
(206) 477-9497

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

Reed quoted State v. Ohlson, 162 Wn.2d 1, 18, 168 P.3d 1273 (2007): "There is no way to know, and every reason to believe, that Ohlson might return... and perhaps escalate his behavior even more." 168 Wn. App. at 568. In Ohlson, our supreme court rejected the appellant's Confrontation Clause challenge, upholding the admission of a victim's 911 call even though the defendant had driven away minutes

before the call. Ohlson, 162 Wn.2d at 19. Regarding the presence of the defendant, or lack thereof, at the time of the 911 call, the Ohlson court stated, “the critical consideration is not whether the perpetrator is or is not at the scene, but rather whether the perpetrator poses a threat of harm, thereby contributing to an on-going emergency.” Id. at 15.

The second Koslowski factor also supports the trial court’s admission of Clark’s 911 call. Here, under these circumstances, a reasonable listener would plainly conclude that Clark was facing an ongoing emergency that required help. This was a 911 call for help against a bona fide physical threat, which Koslowski recognizes as “a clear example where a reasonable listener would recognize that the speaker was facing such an emergency.” Koslowski, 166 Wn.2d at 418-19. This was not a Hammon situation, in which officers took the victim’s statement after having arrived at the scene and ensured that the victim was safe and separated from the suspect.

Turning to the third factor, the nature of the questions asked by the 911 operator and the answers given by Clark, when viewed objectively, were clearly necessary to resolve the emergency. In addition to the questions and answers relating to the assault, threat to kill, and the suspect’s access to a gun, the 911 operator asked for Clark to provide Gerzic’s full name and date of birth. Gerzic argues that asking for this

type of “pedigree” information indicated there was no longer an ongoing emergency. Brief of Appellant at 9. Again, this argument has been specifically rejected. Ohlson held that questions and answers establishing the suspect’s identity were necessary to resolve the present emergency. Ohlson, 162 Wn.2d at 12. “Resolving the present emergency even encompassed establishing the assailant’s identity because it was important for the responding officers to know whether they might ‘be encountering a violent felon.’” Ohlson, 162 Wn.2d at 12 (quoting Davis, 547 U.S. at 827). Similarly, the 911 operator’s question regarding whether Gerzic would likely comply with commands of police officers was clearly intended to obtain information relevant to officer safety during the emergency.

Addressing Koslowski’s fourth factor, here the interrogation was informal. Clark was responding to the 911 operator’s questions during an ongoing emergency in a setting that was not yet safe. The Supreme Court drew this distinction in comparing the circumstances of the victim in Davis to those of the Crawford victim:

And finally, the difference in the level of formality between the two interviews is striking. Crawford was responding calmly, at the station house, to a series of questions, with the officer-interrogator taping and making notes of her answers; McCottry’s (the victim in Davis) frantic answers were provided over the phone, in an environment that was

not tranquil, or even (as far as any reasonable 911 operator could make out) safe.

Davis, 547 U.S. at 827.

Here, considering all of the circumstances, it is clear that the primary purpose of the questions and answers between the 911 operator and Clark was to enable police assistance in meeting an ongoing emergency. The trial court properly determined these statements to be nontestimonial, and Gerzic's right to confrontation was not violated by the admission of the statements.

2. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN FINDING THAT THE TEXT MESSAGES HAD BEEN SUFFICIENTLY AUTHENTICATED.

Gerzic claims that the trial court erroneously admitted the photographs of text messages sent to Clark's phone because, he contends, they were not sufficiently authenticated. Gerzic's claim is without merit. The State proffered evidence that established a prima facie basis to conclude that the questioned evidence was what it was purported to be -- text messages sent by Gerzic to Clark.

A court's admission of evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. Magers, 164 Wn.2d 174, 181, 189 P.3d 126 (2008).

Abuse of discretion occurs when a trial court's decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. Magers, 164 Wn.2d at 181.

At trial, Officer Cufley testified that Exhibit 4 consisted of photographs that "fairly and accurately" depicted text messages that Clark had shown him on her phone. 2RP 34. Cufley testified that Clark told him that the messages had been sent by Gerzic. Id. Gerzic's attorney objected to the admissibility of Exhibit 4 "due to lack of foundation." Id.

"Authentication is a threshold requirement designed to assure that evidence is what it purports to be." State v. Payne, 117 Wn. App. 99, 106, 69 P.3d 889 (2003). Under ER 901(a), "The requirement of authentication or identification as a condition precedent to admissibility is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims." Because the proponent must make only a prima facie showing of authenticity for purposes of establishing admissibility, ER 901 is met "if the proponent shows enough proof for a reasonable fact finder to find in favor of authenticity." In re Detention of H.N., 188 Wn. App. 744, 355 P.3d 294, 298 (2015) (quoting Payne, 117 Wn. App. at 108).

ER 901(b) provides examples of authentication conforming with the requirements of the rule. These examples are "[b]y way of illustration

only, and not by way of limitation.” ER 901(b). They include the following:

(4) *Distinctive Characteristics and the Like*. Appearance, contents, substance, internal patterns, or other distinctive characteristics, taken in conjunction with circumstances.

...

(10) *Electronic Mail (E-mail)*. Testimony by a person with knowledge that (i) the email purports to be authored or created by the particular sender or the sender’s agent; (ii) the email purports to be sent from an email address associated with the particular sender or the sender’s agent; and (iii) the appearance, contents, substance, internal patterns, or other distinctive characteristics of the email, taken in conjunction with the circumstances, are sufficient to support a finding that the email in question is what the proponent claims.

Id. at (4), (10).

The current version of ER 901(b) does not specifically address text messages. Nevertheless, these illustrative examples provide proper bases for the trial court’s determination in this case, and have been relied on by this court in two recent decisions examining the authentication of text messages, H.N., supra, and State v. Bradford, 175 Wn. App. 912, 308 P.3d 736 (2013).

In H.N., the trial court admitted “e-mailed screenshots of text messages” that were used by a medical expert as part of her opinion testimony. H.N., 188 Wn. App. at 750. At issue in the involuntary

commitment hearing was H.N.'s mental condition, and the text messages, purported to be authored by H.N., included a number of statements of intent to do harm to herself. Although in H.N., the sender of the text messages had admitted to the medical expert that she had created and sent the texts, the court of appeals, citing Bradford, supra, nonetheless relied heavily on assessment of the content of the messages in holding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by admitting them. See H.N., 188 Wn. App. at 753-54. The court found that "the distinctive characteristics of the messages taken in conjunction with the circumstances are sufficient to support authentication." Id. at 759.

In Bradford, factually very similar to the case at bar, the text messages at issue were purportedly sent by the defendant, who did not admit having authored or sent the messages. Bradford was convicted of several offenses, including felony stalking of his ex-girlfriend. Bradford, 175 Wn. App. at 915. Among the evidence admitted at trial were text messages that Bradford had sent to his ex-girlfriend and her friend. Id. at 928. The ex-girlfriend received a number of text messages, which she then forwarded to a friend who repeatedly reported having received the messages to the same responding police officer. Id. at 918. The officer would view the text messages on the friend's phone and record each message verbatim into his notebook, from which he would subsequently



copy his entries into a police report. Id. At trial, the contents of the text messages sent to the ex-girlfriend were introduced through the testimony of the officer who read to the jury quotations from the text messages from his police report. Id. at 919 n.1.

Bradford held that sufficient evidence had been produced to support the trial court's admission of the text messages. Id. at 928-29. Several factors were important to the court's analysis. First, the court noted that the defendant's actions showed his "desperate desire" to communicate with his ex-girlfriend. Id. at 929. The court stated that "[i]t was consistent with this obsessive behavior that he would also send text messages to [the friend] as part of his efforts to contact [his ex-girlfriend]." Id. Second, the court stated that "the content of the text messages themselves indicated that Bradford was the individual who sent them." Id. For example, the text messages repeatedly mentioned his ex-girlfriend's name. Further, the threats contained in the text messages "were consistent with Bradford's previous threats made in 2010." Id.

Here, the trial court did not err in admitting Exhibit 4, the photographs of text messages. There was prima facie evidence that the offered exhibit was what it purported to be -- text messages from Gerzic to Clark. In addition to the testimony of Officer Cufley that he had personally seen the text messages on Clark's phone and that Clark had told

him they were sent by Gerzic, as in Bradford the content of the text messages is consistent with other aspects of the case. Clark had called 911 that night because of Gerzic's reaction to her attempts to break off their relationship. Ex. 8 at 2. He had threatened to put a bullet in her head if she would not continue the relationship. Id. He had also threatened to kill himself. Id. at 5. Similarly, the text messages evince Gerzic's desperation to continue his relationship with Clark. His texts begin with, "Did you want me for life together?" Ex. 4 at 1. He then repeatedly asks, "Are you with me or no?" Ex. 4 at 3. He states: "I am happy with You don't do this to me." Ex. 4 at 3. His text messages included a photograph of himself holding a shotgun barrel to his chin with the caption, "This you want?"<sup>7</sup> Ex. 4 at 1-2. Thus, the content of the text messages is entirely consistent with the nature of the emergency responded to by police on the night of Clark's 911 call.

Gerzic's arguments that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the text messages are without merit. Gerzic argues that the source of the messages was not sufficiently established because more than one person can use a phone or an email address. He also argues that "multiple applications exist which allow for text messages to be sent from

---

<sup>7</sup> On appeal, Gerzic does not deny that the photograph is of him. "The only corroboration which connected Mr. Gerzic to the text messages was a picture of him." Brief of Appellant at 20.

someone other than the purported user.” But, considering the internal consistencies between the text messages and Clark’s 911 call, argued above, this is mere speculation. “ “[T]he proponent of offered evidence need not rule out all possibilities inconsistent with authenticity or conclusively prove that evidence is what it purports to be....’ ” H.N., 188 Wn. App. at 751 (citing State v. Andrews, 172 Wn. App. 703, 708, 293 P.3d 1203 (quoting State v. Thompson, 777 N.W.2d 617, 624 (N.D. 2010)), review denied, 177 Wn.2d 1014 (2013)).

In a similar vein, Gerzic seems to argue that “forensic evidence” is required to authenticate text messages. He asserts that in Bradford, “the police performed a ‘phone dump’ of the receiver’s cell phone, generating a report that itemized each text message sent or received to the phone over the period of several months, including the text messages at issue.” Brief of Appellant at 21. That is a misleading and partial reference to Bradford. In Bradford, only a portion of the admitted emails had been authenticated by forensic testimony regarding the “phone dump.” As discussed above, Bradford also upheld the trial court’s admission of text messages that a police officer had simply seen on the victim’s phone and had recorded verbatim in his notes and then transferred into his incident report. There is no requirement of “forensic evidence” to authenticate text messages.

Gerzic also argues that because Clark did not testify, “without an acknowledgment from either party, the prosecution did not establish the authenticity of the text messages.” Brief of Appellant at 20. However, Officer Cufley, in fact, testified that Clark told him that Gerzic had sent her the text messages. 2RP 34. Gerzic did not object to the officer’s testimony as hearsay. Aside from “lack of foundation,” Gerzic’s trial counsel cited no other basis of objection to the admission of Exhibit 4.<sup>8</sup> 2RP 34. Appellate courts generally will not consider an issue that is raised for the first time on appeal. State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). An objection in the trial court on different grounds than those argued on appeal is not sufficient to preserve the alleged error. Trueax v. Ernst Home Ctr., Inc., 124 Wn.2d 334, 339, 878 P.2d 1208 (1994).

Even had Gerzic objected to Officer Cufley’s testimony as containing hearsay, the trial court would not have been precluded from considering the testimony in assessing the foundation for the text messages. The trial court is not bound by the rules of evidence in making the

---

<sup>8</sup> After Exhibit 4 was admitted, upon further discussion counsel for Gerzic stated “We’ve addressed the hearsay issues generally in regards to these – these items.” 2RP at 36. It’s not clear what counsel was referring to. The record does not reflect that there had been any argument that the text messages were hearsay.

preliminary admissibility determination. State v. Williams, 136 Wn. App. 486, 500, 150 P.3d 111 (2007) (citing ER 104(a)). The trial court may rely on lay opinion, hearsay, or any other evidence supporting the proponent's position. Id. While the court must find the evidence reliable, the evidence supporting admissibility need not itself be admissible. Id. For example, a sound recording does not need to be authenticated by any witness who has any personal knowledge of the events of the recording. Rather, a trial court could simply listen to the recording and determine admissibility based on a comparison of the voice to a known voice, or by the content of the conversation on the recording. Id.; State v. Danielson, 37 Wn. App. 469, 471-72, 681 P.2d 260 (1984) (the content of a communication, such as a declarant's message in a communication, can be used and may alone be sufficient to prove authentication). As the Williams court aptly put it, "the trial court may consider any information sufficient to support the prima facie showing that the evidence is authentic." Williams, 136 Wn. App. at 501.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that the State had presented prima facie evidence supporting the admission of Exhibit 4. Gerzic has failed to prove that no reasonable person would have taken the

position adopted by the trial court and found that the messages were what they purported to be, text messages from Gerzic.

3. GERZIC FAILS TO ESTABLISH CONSTITUTIONAL AND MANIFEST ERROR IN ARGUING FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL THAT ADMISSION OF THE TEXT MESSAGES VIOLATED HIS RIGHT TO CONFRONT WITNESSES.

Gerzic also claims that the trial court erred by allowing the admission of the text messages without Clark being present for cross examination. Although he did not object on this basis at trial, Gerzic now claims that his due process right to confront witnesses against him was violated by the admission of the text messages.

In order to have a claim reviewed for the first time on appeal a defendant must demonstrate that the error is (1) manifest, and (2) of constitutional dimension. State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009); RAP 2.5. Not every alleged constitutional error is a manifest constitutional error. State v. Lynn, 67 Wn. App. 339, 343-44, 835 P.2d 251 (1992) (“[I]t is important that ‘manifest’ be a meaningful and operational screening device if we are to preserve the integrity of the trial and reduce unnecessary appeals.”). A manifest error is “an error that is ‘unmistakable,

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